THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

DEC 01 2016

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

---

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0031-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001082

---

The Hunter-Gatherer, LLC, d/b/a The Hunter-Gatherer Brewery,.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Lauren Acquaviva (Bar No. 100528)  
Counsel for Litigation  
Sean G. Ryan (Bar No. 76585)  
Managing Counsel for Litigation  
Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)  
General Counsel for Litigation  
P.O. Box 12265  
Columbia, SC 29211-9979

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN RULING THAT A HOLDER OF A BREWPUB PERMIT MAY SIMULTANEOUSLY HOLD A BREWERY PERMIT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Administrative Law Court (ALC) in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-310 et seq. (Supp. 2015) for a contested case hearing. The Hunter-Gatherer, LLC, d/b/a The Hunter-Gatherer Brewery (Petitioner), filed for a contested case hearing with the ALC on February 4, 2016, to challenge a Department Determination (Determination) issued by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (Department/Appellant) on January 28, 2016, denying its application for a brewery permit. (R. pp. 12 – 14.) Specifically, the Department denied the Petitioner’s application because an applicant with a financial interest in a business that holds a brewpub permit, like the Petitioner, is not eligible to also hold a brewery permit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-940(D). (R. pp. 12 – 14.)

The parties filed joint Stipulations of Fact on February 11, 2016. (R. pp. 59 – 60). The Petitioner then filed a Pretrial Brief on March 7, 2016. On March 9, 2016, the ALC held a motions hearing.<sup>1</sup> The ALC issued its Order on May 2, 2016, finding that a brewpub permit is “a ‘hybrid permit’ outside the three-tier system” and, therefore, the Petitioner can hold a brewery permit and brewpub permit simultaneously. (R. pp. 1 – 11.) The Department filed its appeal of the ALC’s decision to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on May 23, 2016.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Petitioner holds a brewpub permit for its business located at 900 Main Street, Columbia, South Carolina (hereinafter, the “brewpub”). (R. p. 59, ¶ 1.) The Petitioner has held this brewpub permit since October of 1995. (R. p. 59, ¶ 1.) The Petitioner sells food, beer, wine,

---

<sup>1</sup>Although neither party filed a formal motion for summary judgment, the parties agreed no material facts were in dispute and only questions of law existed. (R. p. 3; Order 1.) At the hearing, no witnesses were called and the hearing consisted of legal arguments from both sides.

and liquor and also manufactures approximately 1000 gallons of beer per month at its brewpub. (R. p. 59, ¶ 1.) On or about November 19, 2015, the Petitioner applied for a brewery permit and an on-premises beer and wine permit for its proposed brewery located at 1402 Jim Hamilton Boulevard, Columbia, South Carolina (hereinafter, the “brewery”). (R. p. 59, ¶¶ 2 – 3.) The Petitioner plans to manufacture approximately 5000 gallons of beer per month at its brewery, which will be distributed to retailers via a local wholesaler. (R. p. 59, ¶ 2.)

After reviewing the Petitioner’s applications, the Department determined that the Petitioner was not eligible to hold a brewery permit and a brewpub permit simultaneously because such would violate South Carolina’s three-tier law. (R. p. 59, ¶ 3.) As explained in detail herein below, South Carolina law creates a three-tier system, with limited statutory exceptions, wherein manufacturers, wholesalers, and retailers are each on a separate tier and cannot have any interest in a business on another tier. See § 61-4-940.<sup>2</sup> In this case, the Department determined that a brewery falls on tier one – the manufacturing tier – and a brewpub falls on tier three – the retail tier. (R. pp. 12 – 14, 61 – 62.) Pursuant to § 61-4-940(D), “a person or an entity in the beer business on one tier . . . may not have ownership or financial interest in the beer business operation on another tier.” Accordingly, the Department denied the Petitioner’s application for a brewery permit because the Petitioner is already in the beer business on the third tier. (R. p. 12 – 14.) Additionally, the Department held the Petitioner’s application for an on-premises beer and wine permit at the brewery in abeyance pending a determination from the ALC regarding the brewery permit application. (R. p. 59 – 60, ¶ 3.)

---

<sup>2</sup>For example, § 61-4-940(D) allows a retailer that held an interest in a wholesale business to be “grandfathered” in as an exception provided the wholesale business is not operated at the same location as the retail business and the retailer’s interest in the wholesale business existed prior to July 1, 1980.

## ARGUMENTS

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); Clark v. Aiken County Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2015) provides the applicable standard:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant has been prejudiced because of the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Additionally,

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005)

(internal citation omitted).

Resolution of the issues in this case depends upon the rules of statutory construction and when construing a statute, the cardinal rule is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. Georgia-

Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. 18, 22, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.” Id. at 23, 579 S.E.2d at 336. The words of the statute “must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort[ing] to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand [the statute's] operation.” Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) (internal citations omitted). Finally, “[t]he construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (quoting Dunton v. S.C. Bd. of Examin'rs in Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987)); see also Nucor Steel v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 310 S.C. 539, 543, 426 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1992) (recognizing that where an agency is charged with the execution of a statute, the agency's interpretation should not be overruled without cogent reason).

As will be explained more fully herein, the ALC failed to properly construe S.C. Code Ann. §§ 61-4-940(D) and 61-4-1700 (2009). Instead of concluding that a brewpub is a hybrid permit outside the three-tier system, the ALC should have concluded that a brewpub is a retail business that falls on the third tier – the retail tier. The ALC should have then concluded that the Petitioner is not eligible for a brewery permit because the Petitioner operates a business on the retail tier by virtue of the fact that the Petitioner owns a brewpub. In making its ruling, the ALC committed errors of law and abused its discretion by failing to give the Department's Determination deference. Thus, pursuant to §§ 1-23-610(B)(d) & (f), this Court should reverse the ALC's decision.

**I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT A HOLDER OF A BREWPUB PERMIT MAY SIMULTANEOUSLY HOLD A BREWERY PERMIT.**

**A. South Carolina Has Had A Three-Tier System Since The Enactment Of The Twenty-First Amendment.**

In 1919, Congress ratified the Eighteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, creating the era known as Prohibition. T.A.C. Hargrove, II, Note, Stone Didn't Come But We Got The Bill: An Analysis Of South Carolina Laws Affecting Craft Breweries, 9 Charleston L. Rev. 335, 347 (2015). Prior to Prohibition, the country was plagued by problems relating to the overconsumption of alcohol. Id. at 347-348. Specifically, because no laws existed prior to Prohibition that prevented the integration of manufacturers and retailers, also known as “tied houses,” manufacturers could control retailers. Id. That control resulted in the overconsumption of alcohol. Id. On December 5, 1933, Congress ratified the Twenty-First Amendment to the United States Constitution and repealed Prohibition. Thomas H. Walters, Michigan's New Brewpub License: Regulation Of Zymurgy For the Twenty-First Century, 71 U. Det. Mercy L. Rev. 621, 644 (1994). Thereafter, regulation of the sale of alcohol went to the states. David R. Scott, Brewing Up A New Century Of Beer: How North Carolina Laws Stifle Competition In The Beer Industry And How They Should Be Changed, 3 Wake Forest J. L. & Pol'y 417, 418 (2013). Prior to ratification of the Twenty-First Amendment, however, John D. Rockefeller, Jr. commissioned a study in order to develop plans for states to use to regulate alcohol. Id. at 421. “The study concluded that the best option would be state-run monopolies over the sale and distribution of alcohol.” Id. The study also set forth an alternative to state-run monopolies – a licensing plan utilizing a three-tier system. Id. at 422. Most states, including South Carolina, implemented a three-tier distribution system requiring manufacturers to sell to wholesalers, wholesalers to sell to retailers, and retailers to sell to consumers. Id. at 418; Hargrove, supra, at

351. South Carolina's current three-tier law regarding beer can principally be found in § 61-4-940(D) (hereinafter referred to as the "Three-Tier Law").<sup>3</sup> Pursuant to the Three-Tier Law, the three tiers are as follows: tier one – manufacturers, tier two – wholesalers, and tier three – retailers.

Additionally, many states, including South Carolina, created "tied house" statutes. See § 61-4-940. "Tied house" statutes are aimed at preventing the integration of manufacturing, wholesale . . . and retail outlets in the [alcohol] industry. It has been a fear . . . that economic power at one level in this three-tiered system . . . could be transferred to another level in order to gain control at the second level." Walters, supra, at 661-662. Simply stated, tied house laws prevent a business on one tier from controlling a business on another tier. For example, tied house laws prevent the integration one can find in Great Britain's alcohol industry and could once find in America's alcohol industry. Id. at 670. "In Great Britain, breweries exert control over retailers through ownership of outlets," resulting in manufacturers having the ability to dictate prices and availability of its product. Id. In South Carolina, and many other states, a beer business on one tier cannot have an interest in a beer business on another tier. See § 61-4-940(D). This serves to prevent a business on one tier from controlling a business on another tier.

**B. The South Carolina General Assembly Made A Limited Exception To The Three-Tier Law And Permitted Brewpubs in 1994.**

In general, American brewpubs could be considered a limited statutory exception to three-tier laws as they allow limited integration – namely a combination of both a restaurant and

---

<sup>3</sup>This statute was originally passed in 1980 as S.C. Code Ann. § 61-9-315. See Act No. 335, 1980 S.C. Acts. The statute was amended periodically and ultimately recodified by Act No. 415, 1976 S.C. Acts to § 61-4-940, but the statute always provided for a three-tiered distribution system and prohibited a beer business on one tier from having an interest in a beer business on another tier.

brewery that can participate in both manufacturing and retail activities.<sup>4</sup> See Walters, supra, at 670; Justin M. Welch, The Inevitability Of The Brewpub: Legal Avenues For Expanding Distribution Capabilities, 16 Rev. Litig. 173, 176 (1997). Without a legislative exception to tied house laws, brewpubs would be prohibited entirely as brewpubs “collaps[e] the manufacturing and retail tiers into one operation owned by a single entity, totally bypassing the wholesale function.” Welch, supra, at 176. Laws regulating brewpubs vary by state, as do most alcohol laws. See James M. Seff and Carrie L. Bonnington, Wine and Beer Law Leading Lawyers On Navigating The Three-Tier System And Other Regulations On Alcoholic Beverages, Aspatore, 2015 WL 9875439 \*2 (Dec. 2015); Welch, supra, at 176. Unlike a brewery, which is in the business of brewing/manufacturing beer to be sold to wholesalers and then distributed to retailers, a brewpub is typically a combination of a restaurant and a small brewery that serves food and beverages, to include beer it brews on the premises as well as other manufacturers’ beer. Welch, supra, at 175. Most states limit a brewpub’s barrel production and often restrict to whom and where a brewpub’s beer can be sold. Id. at 176. States also often prohibit brewpub owners from owning other beer or alcohol businesses and sometimes other brewpubs. Id.

In South Carolina in 1994, the General Assembly made a legislative exception to the Three-Tier Law and permitted brewpubs to operate in our State. See Act No. 445, 1994 S.C. Acts. South Carolina defines a brewpub as a “a tavern, public house, restaurant, or hotel which produces on the permitted premises a maximum of two thousand barrels a year of beer for sale on the premises.” Section 61-4-1700. Unlike most states, which allow a business owner to obtain a brewpub permit in addition to some other permit (usually a brewery or retail permit),

---

<sup>4</sup>In South Carolina, wineries, breweries, brewpubs, and micro-distilleries can participate in manufacturing and retailing activities and, thus, could all be considered limited exceptions to the three-tier statute. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 61-4-720 (Supp. 2015), 61-4-730 (Supp. 2015), 61-4-1515 (Supp. 2015), 61-4-1700 et seq. (2009), and 61-6-1095 et seq. (Supp. 2015).

South Carolina allows a brewpub to operate using just a brewpub permit. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1720 (2009) (brewpub permit) with Minn. Stat. Ann. § 340A.101 (West 2016) (brewer permit plus retail permit) and Tex. Alco. Bev. Code Ann. § 74.01(c) (West 2016) (brewpub license plus retail permit). In other words, instead of obtaining a brewery permit and an on-premises beer and wine permit (retail permit), a brewpub only needs one permit – a brewpub permit. See § 61-4-1720. Unlike the term “brewpub”, the term “brewery” is not defined in Title 61, but the term is included in the definition of “producer.” See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-300 (2009). In the dictionary, brewery is defined as “a plant where malt liquors are produced.” Brewery, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/brewery> (last visited Aug. 11, 2016). Thus, a brewery in South Carolina could be defined strictly as a producer of beer. However, as of 2010, § 61-4-1515 (hereinafter the “brewery law”) provided that a brewery could sell beer that it brews on its premises at retail only if that retail sale was made in conjunction with a tour. Act No. 231 § 2, 2010 S.C. Acts. Moreover, in 2013, the General Assembly amended the brewery law to allow breweries to, among other things, sell beer it brews for on premises consumption and apply for a retail beer and wine permit to sell its own beer as well as other manufacturers’ beer and wine for on premises consumption provided certain conditions are met. Act No. 36 § 1, 2013 S.C. Acts.

Regarding the regulation of a brewpub’s and brewery’s retail activities, a brewpub can sell beer and wine for on or off premises consumption, and a brewpub must comply with the Department of Health and Environmental Control’s (DHEC) regulations regarding eating and drinking establishments in order to sell beer for on or off premises consumption. See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1750 (2009). A brewery, on the other hand, only has to comply with DHEC’s regulations regarding eating and drinking establishments if it wants to sell its beer for on

premises consumption within a designated eating area, or apply for a retail beer and wine permit to sell other manufacturers' beer and wine for on premises consumption within a designated eating area. See § 61-4-1515(B). A brewery does not have to comply with DHEC's regulations regarding eating and drinking establishments if it only brews beer to be sold to wholesalers. See § 61-4-1515. Moreover, a brewery can sell beer it brews on the premises for off premises consumption only in conjunction with a tour of the brewery. See § 61-4-1515(D)(2). Additionally, a brewpub, unlike a brewery, may obtain a license to sell alcoholic liquor by the drink if it meets the qualifications for such license. See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1740(3) (2009).

Regarding the regulation of a brewpub's and brewery's manufacturing activities, a brewpub, unlike a brewery, cannot sell its beer to wholesalers to be distributed to other retailers. See §§ 61-4-940, 61-4-1515(D), and 61-4-1740. Furthermore, a brewpub has a production limit of 2,000 barrels per year while a brewery has no production limit. Compare § 61-4-1700 with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 61-4-1500 et seq. (Supp. 2015). Thus, a reading of the brewpub statutes compared to the brewery statutes demonstrates that South Carolina's brewpub is a limited exception to the Three-Tier Law that allows a retail business to participate in limited manufacturing activities.

**C. A Brewpub Is A Retail Business And Falls On The Third Tier of South Carolina's Three-Tier System.**

In South Carolina, a brewpub is a retail business. As discussed above, a brewpub is defined as “a **tavern, public house, restaurant, or hotel** which produces on the permitted premises a maximum of two thousand barrels a year of beer for sale on the premises.” Section 61-4-1700(1) (emphasis added). Per the rules of statutory construction, the words of a statute “must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort[ing] to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand [the statute's] operation.” Hitachi Data Sys. Corp., 309 S.C. at

178, 420 S.E.2d at 846. A tavern, public house, restaurant, and hotel are all ordinarily retail businesses. The fact that the General Assembly chose to define a brewpub as a retail business that can participate in limited manufacturing activities is telling as the General Assembly *could have* defined a brewpub as a manufacturing business that can participate in limited retail activities like some other states have done.<sup>5</sup> Thus, a plain reading of the statutory definition of “brewpub” indicates that a brewpub is a retailer. See § 61-4-1700(1). Pursuant to the Three-Tier Law, a retailer is on the third tier. Thus, a brewpub is a retail business that falls on the third tier of South Carolina’s three-tier system.

The South Carolina Constitution serves as further evidence that a brewpub is a retail business. Specifically, Article VIII-A of the South Carolina Constitution provides:

[L]icenses may be granted to sell and consume alcoholic liquors and beverages on the premises of businesses which engage primarily and substantially in the preparation and serving of meals [restaurants] or furnishing of lodging [hotels] or on the premises of certain nonprofit organizations with limited membership not open to the general public [private clubs] . . . .

S.C. Const. art VIII-A. All of the businesses that are permitted to obtain a license to sell alcoholic liquor by the drink are retail businesses – restaurants, hotels, and private clubs – and those are the *only* three types of businesses that can obtain a liquor by the drink license. Section 61-4-1720 states that a brewpub may obtain a liquor by the drink license as long as it meets all of the other requirements for licensure. If a brewpub is eligible for a liquor by the drink license,

---

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