ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0031-CC
Appellate Case No. 2016-001082

The Hunter-Gatherer, LLC, d/b/a The Hunter-Gatherer Brewery, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Burnet R. Maybank, III (Bar No. 3699)
Jim Rourke (Bar No. 79879)
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 771-8900
bmaybank@nexsenpruet.com
jrourke@nexsenpruet.com

Attorneys for Respondent The Hunter-Gatherer,

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

The Department’s attempt to identify a brewpub as a “retailer” due to its sales to on-site consumers is unfounded in statute, regulation, or policy document. The Department relies on the dictionary definition of “retail” to conclude that because a brewpub sells beer, wine, and food directly to customers, a brewpub must constitute a “retailer” for purposes of the three-tier statute. While the on-premises sales surely connote retail activity, the Department completely ignores the first and the most fundamental factor identifying a brewpub – it must *produce or manufacture* beer. A brewpub’s production of beer, and its associated DHEC permitting requirements, is a unique activity shared only with “manufacturer[s]” and “brewer[s]” of beer.

Moreover, as discussed in more depth below, the 2014 law changes for breweries allow significantly more retail activity for businesses on the manufacturing tier. For example:

(B) In addition to the sampling and sales provisions set forth in subsection (A), a *brewery licensed in this State is authorized to sell beer produced on its licensed premises to consumers on site for on-premises consumption [retail] within an area of its licensed premises approved by the rules and regulations of the Department of Health and Environmental Control governing eating and drinking establishments and other food service establishments.* These establishments also may apply for a retail on-premises consumption permit for the sale of beer and wine of a producer that has been purchased from a wholesaler through the three-tier distribution chain set forth in Section 61-4-735 and Section 61-4-940 [retail].

§ 61-4-1515. In addition to on-premises consumption of food, beer, and wine (just like a brewpub), under the 2014 legislation, breweries now can sell beer on its licensed premises for

off-premises consumption, which surely is a retail function. § 61-4-1515(C). This means both breweries and Brewpubs can lawfully engage in retail activities, including the sale of beer and wine for on-premises consumption, and both can lawfully sell food. Just as a Brewery is now able to operate, a brewpub is a manufacturer/producer of beer that also is allowed to make sales of beer and food at retail. Accordingly, the changes in law demonstrate that a manufacturer/brewer/producer of beer is allowed to conduct retail activity and still be considered placed in the manufacturing tier.

Other states addressing this issue have classified Brewpubs as “manufacturers.” For example, Alabama uses a substantially similar three-tier system with an exception for Brewpubs. See Ala. Code Ann. § 28-3-4. When summarizing alcohol regulation in Alabama, the Alabama Law Institute⁴ categorized a brewpub as an exception *within the manufacturing tier*. See Alabama Law Institute, General Background on Alabama Alcohol Regulation, at p. 3 (May 14, 2015), *available at* <http://ali.state.al.us/documents/ABSCMHmemo.pdf>.

Moreover, federal law treats a brewpub as a “brewer” for purposes of federal licensure requirements, thereby requiring Brewpubs to obtain the identical licenses as breweries for the brewing of beer. Under 27 U.S.C. 25.11, federal regulations define “brewer” broadly to include “[a]ny person who brews beer . . . and any person who produces beer for sale.” In other words, before opening the Brewpub, Respondent filed for and received Brewery permits from the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (“TTB”) as a brewer. As demonstrated in the TTB Tutorial, “Getting Started in the Beer Industry”:

⁴ From its website: “The Alabama Law Institute, created by an act of the Legislature in 1967, is a legislative agency that operates with volunteers. Our purpose is to clarify and simplify the laws of Alabama, to revise laws that are out-of-date and to fill in gaps in the law where there exists legal confusion. Our diverse membership includes members of the Alabama State Bar Association, the judges of the Alabama Supreme Court, courts of appeals, and circuit courts, federal judges domiciled in Alabama, full-time law faculty members of law schools and lawyer members of the Legislature.

Step 2 – Identify Your Desired Type of Beer Operations

The next important step in getting started in the beer industry is deciding which type of beer operation(s) you intend to conduct. Most products classified as “beer” under the Internal Revenue Code are “malt beverages” under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act. For ease of reference, this tutorial will refer to both “beer” and “malt beverages” as “beer.”

Types of Beer Operations

- Brewery/*Brewpub*/Alternating Proprietorship
- Pilot Brewery

Other Beer Operation Types

- *Retail* Dealer in Beer
- Wholesale Dealer in Beer
- Importer of Beer

While the application procedures among the various operations might have similarities, there are significant differences between them that will affect how you become qualified to operate.

See *Getting Started in the Beer Industry*, available at <http://www.ttb.gov/industry-startup/ref-guide/start.html> (Emp. added). This means the federal regulatory body governing beer manufacturers, distributors, and retailers specifically differentiates and classifies *Brewpubs* as manufacturers (akin to breweries), and not as retailers.

Finally, this interpretation is consistent with the industry’s position regarding the definition of “*brewpub*.” The Brewers Association, the federal industry group for brewers, has defined *Brewpubs* as “breweries that brew and sell beer on their own premises....” David R. Scott, *Brewing Up a New Century of Beer*, 3 Wake Forest J. L. & Pol’y at 417 (citing Number of Breweries, Brewers Ass’n, available at <http://www.brewersassociation.org/pages/business-tools/craft-brewing-statistics/number-of-breweries> (visited Apr. 1, 2013)).

b. All of the Exceptions Provided by Statute Allow Manufacturers to Operate on the Retail Tier.

By way of background beer, wine and liquor all have their own three-tier statutes, and perhaps because three-tier statutes are written for competitive, market reasons, and not public health and safety, they are replete with exceptions. As outlined above, South Carolina Code has developed exceptions for Brewpubs, which operate both on the retail and the manufacturing tier, as well as breweries, which now are explicitly allowed to conduct retail activities. Additionally, the Code has developed a number of exceptions which allow manufacturers to conduct significant retail operations. As summarized below, all of the exceptions below relate to *manufacturers* that are allowed to operate on the retail tier only by explicit statutory exception. None of **the** exceptions allow an entity classified as a retailer to also manufacture the types of products they are selling at retail. Therefore, to classify a brewpub as a *retailer* that operates by exception on the manufacturing tier would be inconsistent with all of the other exceptions provided by law, which allow *manufacturers* to also operate on the *retail* tier.

It bears repeating, here is the basis for the DOR's Determination that a brewpub is on the retail tier:

“While ‘retailer’ is not defined in Title 61, the term “retailer” and other corresponding terms are defined in Title 12 for sales tax purposes. When reading S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-36-70, 12-36-110, and 12-36-12- (2014) together, a “retailer” is clearly a person who sells tangible personal property to the end user or consumer. Moreover, the dictionary defines “retail” as “the sale of goods or commodities in small quantities **directly to consumers.**” *American Heritage Dictionary of English Language* 1487 (4th ed. 2000) (emphasis added). A brewpub is defined as “a **tavern, public house, restaurant, or hotel** which produces on the permitted premises a maximum of two thousand barrels a year of beer **for sale on the premises.**” S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1700 (2009) (emphasis added). Thus, because a brewpub sells beer, wine, food, and sometimes alcoholic liquor, all of which are goods, directly to consumers, a brewpub constitutes a retailer for purposes of the three-tiered distribution and licensing

scheme.”

Final Agency Determination 3, R. p. 14. As seen below, such retail activity is allowed on several manufacturing tiers.

(i) WINE

S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-735 (Regulation of Practices Between Wine Manufacturers, Importers, Wholesalers, and Retailers) is the three-tier statute for wine manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers. The three-tier statutes for wine have numerous exceptions. Section 61-4-735 states:

(D) A producer, *winery*, vintner, and importer of wine are declared to be in business on one tier, a wholesaler on another tier, and a retailer on another tier. For the purpose of this section, a manufacturer or producer of wine is declared to be a tier one business, a wholesaler or an importer owned solely by a wholesaler is declared to be a tier two business, and a retailer is declared to be a tier three business. Except as provided in Sections 61-4-720 and 61-4-730, a person or entity in the wine business on one tier or a person acting directly or indirectly on his behalf may not have ownership or financial interest in a wine business operation on another tier. [**Exception 1:**] This limitation does not apply to the interest held on July 1, 1993, by the holder of a wholesale permit in a business operated by the holder of a retail permit at premises other than where the wholesale business is operated. [**Exception 2:**] For purposes of this subsection, ownership or financial interest does not include the ownership of less than one percent of the stock in a corporation with a class of voting shares registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission or other federal agency under Section 12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, [**Exception 3:**] or a consulting agreement under which the consultant has no control over business decisions and whose compensation is unrelated to the profits of the business. Notwithstanding this prohibition or the prohibition contained in Section 61-4-940(D), [**Exception 4:**] a manufacturer or importer of beer or wine may own in whole or in part a business that holds an on-premises retail beer and wine permit provided that:

- (1) All beverages to be handled or sold by the retail dealer must be purchased from licensed wholesalers and purchased on the same terms and conditions as do other retail dealers.
- (2) Sales of any product produced or distributed by the manufacturer or importer must not exceed ten percent of the annual gross sales of beer or wine by the retail permit holder.

(E) A manufacturer, producer, importer, or wholesaler of wine may discount product price based on quantity purchases if all discounts are on price only, appear on the sales records, and are available to all retail customers.

(F) Nothing in this section affects or prohibits the ownership or the operation of a licensed winery in this State that produces, provides taste samples, sells, delivers, or ships domestic wine as authorized and in accordance with the provisions of Sections 61-4-720 and 61-4-730 [**which authorize retail**] (Emp. added.)

Section 61-4-720 (Sale of Wine by Winery Located in State) states:

Notwithstanding another provision of law, a licensed winery [**a manufacturer**] located in this State is authorized to [**retail**] sell wine on the winery premises and [**retail**] deliver or ship this wine to consumer homes in or outside the State so long as the wine is produced on its premises and contains an alcoholic content of sixteen percent or less. These wineries are authorized to provide, [**retail**] with or without cost, wine tasting samples to prospective customers.

Section 61-4-730 (Sales by Permitted Wineries) states:

(A) Permitted wineries that produce and sell wine produced on its premises [**manufacturer**] with at least sixty percent of the juice from fruit and berries that are grown in this State may sell the wine at retail, [**retail**] wholesale, [**wholesale**] or both, and deliver or ship the wine to licensed retailers in this State [**wholesale**] or to consumer homes [**retail**] in and outside the State. Wine must be delivered between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.

(B) Permitted wineries that produce and sell wine produced on their premises with less than sixty percent of the juice from fruit and berries that are grown in this State may retail from the winery and ship the wine directly to consumer homes in and outside the State [**retail**], but these wineries are not wholesalers of the wine. These wineries shall use a licensed South Carolina wholesaler to deliver or ship the wine to licensed retailers in this State.

A licensed winery (a manufacturer) is accordingly outside the normal three-tier prohibition, based on statute. The manufacturer of wine is permitted to (1) manufacture; (2) retail, and (3) wholesale its own products. The obvious purpose of the legislation is to foster the growth of South Carolina wineries by allowing them to operate on all three tiers.

Section 61-4-745 (Transporting into and out of State for Personal Consumption) states:

(A) Subject to the provisions of Section 61-4-747, a person who is at least twenty-one years of age and who is a legal resident of this State, may cause to be shipped or transported from a manufacturer [**manufactures**] of wine up to twenty-four bottles of wine each month for his own consumption or use [**retail**], and not for resale, into and out of this State without the necessity of acquiring any permits or licenses or other forms of public or private authorization except for the payment of appropriate taxes.

Section 61-4-747 (Direct Shipment to Residents for Personal Consumption”) states:

(A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, rule, or regulation to the contrary, a manufacturer [**manufacturer**] of wine located within this State or outside this State that holds a wine producer and blenders basic permit issued in accordance with the Federal Alcohol Administration Act and obtains an out-of-state shipper’s license, as provided in this section, may ship [**retail**] up to twenty-four bottles of wine each month directly to a resident of this State who is at least twenty-one years of age for such resident’s personal use and not for resale.

These two statutes alone, “notwithstanding any other provision of law, rule or regulation to the contrary,” authorize a wine manufacturer to sell wine to South Carolina consumers (i.e. retail trade). These examples illustrate a statutory intent to provide exceptions for manufacturers to also operate on the retail tier. According to the Department’s position in this case, a winery would be considered on the retail tier!

(ii) LIQUOR

The liquor three-tier statute is found in Section 61-6-100. It states:

Except as otherwise provided, the department has sole and exclusive power to suspend and revoke all licenses provided for in the ABC Act. The department may issue, subject to revocation, the following licenses under this article:

(1) manufacturers’ licenses which authorize the licensees to manufacture alcoholic liquors and to sell and deliver or ship them, in accordance with regulations, in bottles or in similar closed containers to a person in this State who has a wholesaler’s license issued under this article, and in barrels, bottles, or other closed containers to persons outside this State. However, no

deliveries or shipments may be made into another state whose laws prohibit the consignee from receiving or selling alcoholic liquors;

(2) wholesalers' licenses which authorize the licensees to purchase, store, keep, possess, import into this State, transport, sell, and deliver alcoholic liquors in bottles or similar closed containers, in accordance with regulations, to a person having a manufacturer's or retail dealer's license issued under this article; and

(3) retail dealers' licenses which authorize the licensees to purchase alcoholic liquors from wholesalers having licenses issued under this article, and to store, keep, possess, and sell alcoholic liquors at retail for consumption in compliance with the provisions of the ABC Act and regulations not in conflict herewith.

In 2009, the General Assembly authorized micro-distilleries. This legislation is similar to the recently passed microbreweries law. Section 61-6-1095 (Definitions) states:

For the purposes of this sub-article:

(A) "Micro-distillery" means a manufacturer [**manufacturer**] who distills, blends, and bottles alcoholic liquors on the licensed premises in this State with an alcohol content greater than seventeen percent and who produces a maximum quantity of one hundred twenty-five thousand cases per year at the licensed premises.

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